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PROLOGUE


I was thirteen when I started to go to dance halls in Billingham, Stockton and Middlesbrough. At that time, 1960, the traditional dance fare served up on Teesside was fast withering away. In the1930s and the war years Stockton was well served by several bands and large dance halls: the Palais de Danse with Jack O’Boyle, the Maison de Dance with Jack Marwood and his band and the Jubilee and Corporation Halls. The locus of my mother and father’s courtship traversed midweek visits to the Cinema in Stockton High Street and a dance at the ‘Maison’ on a Saturday night. Jack Marwood, resplendent in tuxedo, would front his similarly dressed band of daytime clerks, railway and shipyard workers, draughtsmen and other assorted occupations as they tried to capture the magic of the latest Ambrose, Henry Hall, Jack Hylton, Joe Loss, or Roy Fox recording. But as the evening wore on the music began to drift more and more across the Atlantic. Foxtrot and quickstep became more energetic as the couples and singles - many fortified by a break for alcoholic sustenance at the Theatre Hotel, known to many in the 1950s as “Jocker Brown`s” - embraced the swing of Marwood versions of Count Basie, Tommy Dorsey, Duke Ellington, Benny Goodman, Woody Herman, Harry James, Glen Miller, and Artie Shaw. Indeed, Jack Marwood’s dance band had reigned supreme over the Maison de Danse and Stockton’s popular culture right from the twenties down to the late fifties1. But by the early 1960s the band was a shadow of its former self, its reputation having declined almost inversely as Jack’s own corpulence grew2.


My early teenage visits to the Teesside dance halls in 1960 and 1961 were altogether a more introverted activity than the dance focused exuberance of my parents’ courtship years. Indeed, I wasn’t interested in dance at all. And if I was keen to meet girls, I didn’t see how my nascent sexual longings could be met by squirming unrhythmically 18 inches away from some unknown girl with my face flushed red reflecting the 45 minutes of anxiety that I took to pluck up the courage to ask for the dance. No, what drew me to the ‘Maison’ and the Jubilee Ballroom in Stockton, the Bellasis Hall in Billingham and the Astoria in Middlesbrough was the band. But not the middle-aged, tuxedoed players of the Marwood ensemble, rather the young, sharp-suited pop bands such as the Johnny Taylor Five and the Midnighters who were gaining local ascendancy over the dance bands. Sadly, the heyday of these bands was to be much shorter than the reign of Jack Marwood and his contemporaries. They were eventually superseded from the late 1960s in Stockton as everywhere else by the disco. Modern record production quality and powerful electrical amplification meant that the recorded sound of popular singers, groups and dance favourites became preferred to the ‘covers’ of local live bands.


Without doubt, the principal stimulus to these local bands was the success of the Shadows. As Roger Taylor, of Queen, writes


“Around the year 1960 there existed in Britain a curious epidemic of about 39,000 instrumental beat groups. With a peculiar regularity they would tend to consist of four youths in identical shiny suits - one would play drums, the other three would wield salmon-pink Fender (or cheaper look-alike) guitars in choreographed poses, whilst executing a curious synchronized “dance-walk”. The lead guitarist would often wear horn-rimmed spectacles and the electric bass player would tend to be a swept back bleached blond. The bass player would usually get the girls. All these groups would play almost exclusively covers of Shadows tunes. In many cases they would actually imagine themselves to be Hank, Bruce, Jet or Tony. These groups were The Shadows clones. I know - I was that group!”3


And Teesside’s Midnighters were another. To a thirteen year old with musical aspirations, the Shadows were like Greek gods, to be glimpsed on the pedestals of hazy black and white television screens and, if you were lucky, on their occasional appearances at Stockton’s Globe theatre. As it happened, Stockton was more favoured by the Shadows than I appreciated at the time and it was indirectly through their connection with Stockton that I was given the opportunity to become a professional musician. But more of that later.


The Midnighters were Roger Taylor’s archetypical Shadows clones. But to my untutored ears they were no pale imitation. They played more frequently to the south of the River Tees, with occasional forays to Stockton’s Maison de Danse. So, to hear them on a regular basis I would have to travel by bus from Billingham to Middlesbrough. A regular venue was the Astoria, which was not cheap to get in and when bus fares, entrance fee and costs of a solitary orange juice were added together my week’s pocket money would be exhausted on this one outing. But what a return for my investment.


The Astoria was a refurbished theatre with pretensions and could be seen as a precursor of the nightclubs for the masses that began to spring up on Teesside in the middle to late 1960s. Its pretensions were realised by dimmed lighting, the large revolving crystal ball floating over the dance floor reflecting directed light in thousands of different directions and the spotlit, canopied dais at the end of the floor under which the artists of the evening performed. The Midnighters stood on the dais, three guitarists up front and drummer behind. At the right of the dais stood the lead guitarist. The improbably named Granville B. Leacy was Hank Marvin in everything but name: horn-rimmed glasses, slimly built in shiny suit with a red Fender Stratocaster hanging from his neck and an ability to play and sound like Hank that made me salivate with envy. At the other side of the stage stood the bass player: Ray Hudson. Ray was tall, handsome and sported a sunburst Fender Precision bass. But Ray’s talents extended beyond rhythmic bass riffs and Shadows’ covers. He had a voice to die for. A voice that stilled the dancers as they listened in awe to his rendition of Roy Orbison’s ‘Only the Lonely’, which had risen to number one in the New Musical Express singles charts in October 1960.


One night, as a single spotlight picked out Ray, his head thrown back, voice rising effortlessly to the peak of Orbison’s legendary three-octave range, and a clutch of girls describing a longing semi-circle around and below him, I knew that I had to be a member of a pop band. Remembering my fumbling difficulties in meeting and asking girls to dance, with that scene of a group of adoring females surrounding Ray etched into my mind in a preview of Roger Taylor’s own reminiscence, I also knew that I had to become a bass player. And, as something of an afterthought, I reminded myself that perhaps I’d better learn to play the bass guitar!


Notes


    1 Jack Marwood and his band are reputed to have held the longest British band residency from around 1917 to Marwood’s retirement in1968


    2 In case this is interpreted as being unfair to Jack Marwood, I should make it clear that Marwood was well aware of the changing trends in modern music and increasingly promoted the appearance of new pop and rock bands at the Maison. One of these bands was the Denvers.


    3 His testimonial to the Shadows is on their official website at http://www.theshadowsofficial.com/
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IN THE LAND OF THE PRINCE BISHOPS


My early life was spent in Stockton-on-Tees. Stockton was and is a market town. Situated on the north bank of the Tees, Stockton4 lies 38 miles south of Newcastle, 257 miles north of London and 186 miles to the south east of Glasgow, where I have spent most of my working life since 1974. The roots of present day Stockton go back to the creation of the Manor of Stockton in 1138, but in 1189 Bishop Pudsey purchased it and the local economy functioned largely to serve the Bishops of Durham for many years thereafter. The Prince Bishops did much for the town, including freeing the serfs, making the village into a borough at an unknown date in the thirteenth century, and the granting of a market charter by Bishop Bek in 1310, which greatly facilitated trade. Taxes were collected from the southern end of Durham county by the Prince Bishops of Durham, who when they were in the area were based in a fortified manor house in the south of the town, which became known as Stockton Castle. While much of this was beneficial, the monopoly position of the Bishops began to limit the growth of trade. So, in the 1500s, the ties to the Bishops were reduced, allowing the growing population to trade with areas outside Durham and, through the developing port, much further afield.


By the mid seventeenth century the Stockton economy was booming. Exports were a key driving force with local agricultural products such as wool, bacon and butter, and others such as lead, passing through the port by sea to places such as London and beyond. The port also served as an entry point to a growing flow of imports, which included raisins, wine, coal, glass, and household goods. Hence, the town became something of a prize and in the turbulent times of the 1640s the town was occupied by the Scottish army between 1644 and 1646. At the end of the Civil War, Oliver Cromwell ordered the castle to be destroyed to prevent it ever again falling into royalist hands and so effectively ending the power of the Prince Bishops in the town.


Along with economic growth came urban development. By the mid 1700s Stockton had developed into a bustling Hanoverian town with a population of more than 2000. It was during this period that the distinctive face of Stockton, still evident today, was fashioned. A long, broad, High Street was constructed, which continues to be Stockton’s pride, leading to claims that it is the widest high street in England and even in Europe! To the east, two or three streets paralleled the High Street and three or four streets led down to the river and quays. In 1735, in the centre of the High Street, on the site of an old tollbooth and cells, a Town House or Town Hall was built in the Dutch style. The Town Hall was further extended in 1744 becoming a landmark and focal point of the town. The Town Hall was complemented by an impressive church located at the northern end of the High Street. With spiritual needs satisfied, cultural demands were met by the construction of Stockton’s first theatre in 1766, a notable example of Georgian architecture still evident today in other parts of the town. And, the River Tees ceased to be a barrier to land travel southwards when a stone bridge was built in 1769.


The industrial revolution further accelerated Stockton’s economic development. Shipbuilding, which had begun to develop earlier with its associated trades of sail and rope making, began to prosper. An iron working industry developed in the late eighteenth century. Then, during the first half of the nineteenth century a large engineering industry grew up, one of the fruits of which led to international recognition and Stockton’s great hubris. The first passenger railway, hauled by George Stephenson’s engine Locomotion No. 1, opened between Stockton and Darlington in 1825. The railway opened up the hinterland to Stockton’s industry and port allowing, for example, coal to be brought to Stockton’s factories, which further encouraged the growth of industry. But just as Stockton’s port had superseded Yarm, which was a little further up river, so Middlesbrough began its rise as the principal port of the Tees largely at Stockton’s expense. Further, the discovery in the 1850s of ironstone in the Cleveland hills to the south of Stockton led to the rapid growth of an iron and steel industry on both the north and south banks of the Tees. This development, along with the continued growth of shipbuilding, worked to the benefit of Stockton so that by the final quarter of the nineteenth century the town was transformed from the quiet market town of hundred years before to a flourishing centre of industry. And, as the economy expanded so did Stockton’s population, which rose rapidly, through both natural growth and in-migration, from 8,562 in 1801 to 86,073 in 19015. Population growth in turn led to public investments in social infrastructure, with the first hospital built in 1862, a public library in 1877, street trams in 1881 and a public park – Ropner Park6 – in 1883.


Engineering continued to dominate the local economy until the 1920s and 1930s when the chemicals industry began to develop initially on the north bank of the Tees at Billingham, a few miles to the north of Stockton. In 1932 around 5,000 workers were employed in the chemical industry at Billingham. During the 1930s my father’s family migrated from Tyneside to Billingham, with my grandfather transferring as a process worker to ICI Billingham. The further growth of the railway had also encouraged my mother’s family to migrate during the second decade of the twentieth century from the Yorkshire dales to Stockton, where my maternal grandfather transferred jobs as a signalman moving to a new post in charge of a signal box just south of the town.


When my parent’s courtship began in the late 1930s, Stockton’s economy was just beginning to recover from the ravages of the Depression. Shipbuilding and shipping in Stockton were badly hit and had almost disappeared. In 1931, the male unemployment rate in Stockton stood at 27.2%, compared to the British rate of 12.7%. As the local MP for Stockton in the twenties and thirties, Harold Macmillan7 was so moved by the experience of high unemployment that it coloured his attitude to economic policy when he became Chancellor of the Exchequer and subsequently Prime Minister in 19578. But with the growth of the chemical industry and the impact of war preparations on local industry, jobs were increasingly available on Teesside. My father, William Kemp Ashcroft, was completing an apprenticeship as a fitter and turner at ICI Billingham, while my mother, Phyllis May Hardwick, had found secretarial work in Stockton.


The start of World War II had a profound impact on many lives in Stockton as well as elsewhere in Britain. My father joined the RAF as an aircraft fitter, and so before the anticipated overseas posting my parents were married in Stockton in March 1940. They spent some of the war together on various RAF postings in places such as Peterborough, Cumberland and Northern Ireland. But the anticipated overseas posting duly arrived and my father went off around the world, primarily working as a fitter maintaining Sunderland flying boats. With my mother back in the wartime austerity of Stockton, living with her parents, it is probably with mixed feelings that she received my father’s military censored letters and photographs from such seemingly exotic locations as Kenya, India, and Ceylon.


Both my parents got through the War unscathed, although not without domestic tragedy (see below). Indeed, my father was never close to enemy action. Although, when once flying over the Mediterranean a US warship opened up on them with its anti-aircraft guns. Fortunately for my father, the rest of the aircrew, and I guess for me, any ‘friendly fire’ fatalities were avoided. My father returned to work at ICI Billingham, taking my mother to live with him and his parents on By-pass Road Billingham, which was closer to his work. By mid 1946 my mother had fallen pregnant with me and I was born in March 1947, one of the countless births that constituted the post-War ‘baby boom’.


Notes


    4 My main sources for historical information about Stockton include “A Brief History of Stockton –on –Tees” by Tim Lambert http://www.localhistories.org/stockton.html; “Teesside Online” http://www.teessideonline.net/kb.php?mode=article&k=21; “Wikipedia, the free encyclopedia” http://en.wikipedia.org/wiki/Stockton-On-Tees; “Picture Stockton” http://picture.stockton.gov.uk/default.aspx Books by David Simpson and North East Timeline http://www.thenortheast.fsnet.co.uk/page88.htm


    5 Source: A Vision of Britain through Time: http://www.visionof britain.org.uk/data_theme_page.jsp?u_id=10095086&c_id= 10001043&data_theme=T_WK


    6 The park was named after local shipbuilder Robert Ropner, who made a significant fortune from shipbuilding. Preston Hall, which lies between Stockton and Yarm was Ropner’s palatial home. Today it is a popular museum and country park, owned and managed by the local authority.


    7 He was MP for Stockton from 1924 to 1929, then from 1931 to 1945 losing his seat under the Labour ‘landslide’ General Election victory of that year.


    8 S. Brittan, The Treasury Under the Tories, 1951-1964, Harmondsworth, 1964.
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GROWING UP ON TEESSIDE


Within eighteen months of my birth my parents moved out of my grandparents’ home to take up residence in a new council house, two miles away, close to Wolviston and just west of the A19 in the north of Billingham. The grandly named Matlock Gardens was part of the Monkseaton estate, which was one of the first local housing estates in the post-War flurry of council house building. If it was not meant to live up to the ‘homes fit for heroes’ concept of post World War I aspiration, the estate certainly offered to its largely skilled working-class residents new, even aristocratic, possibilities with street names such as Matlock, Chatsworth, Belmont, and Queens.


Number 17 Matlock gardens, our home, was typical of the other semi-detached houses on the estate: two spacious bedrooms, a small bedroom, living room and dining room – divided by an alcove – kitchen, bathroom and separate toilet. Outside there was a fairly large garden, which as my father’s fingers became greener, evolved into a small lawn and flower/shrub border at the front, a sizeable vegetable plot at the side running well past the house, and a large lawn and flower/shrub border at the rear. A small semi-detached outhouse, containing a ‘wash-house’, coal bunker and storage room, completed the facilities. It is difficult perhaps for us today to appreciate what a change such living conditions offered from the shared rooms and often cramped urban living conditions that my parents and others like them of their generation were subject to in the 1930s and 1940s. With fairly spacious, modern accommodation and almost no unemployment – down to just 2% in Stockton in 1951 – the young families on the estate must have entered the 1950s with much hope for the future.


For my own parents, mam9 and dad to me, the 1950s brought mixed fortunes. My mother stayed at home to look after me for the first years of my life until I went to school, while my father worked at his trade at ICI Billingham. There is much that could be written about my early childhood but I shall not detain the reader with such personal details. What should be said is that from apparently happy beginnings my parents’ relationship began to deteriorate. Although they never split up, or separated even temporarily, the growing tension and conflict between them during the first ten years of my life did, I have no doubt, induce in me a growing desire to escape. Yet, paradoxically, I was not psychologically very well equipped to ‘flee the coup’ as early as I eventually did.


My father was personable, imaginative and bright but brought up by a domineering mother and in awe of his father he appeared to suffer from low self-esteem. As the 1950s wore on he began to drink more and spend less and less time with my mother and myself. This happened despite initial successes in his work life, valuable service as a local councillor, and a flair for gardening that won him several prizes for one of the best kept gardens in the locality. Such prizes were clearly considered by the local council as a key inducement to tenants to keep their gardens neat and tidy, an incentive that I fear would be little prized today. His insecurities worsened after my mother went back to work. She took up an office job, first on a part-time basis, allowing her to take me to and pick me up from the village school in Wolviston, and then full-time after I’d reached the age of six or seven and could take myself from and to school. It wasn’t long after her return that my father’s insecurities turned first into resentment and then into drink-fuelled jealousy of my mother’s increasing involvement with her work.


My mother was hard working and very single-minded yet she was flexible and more willing to embrace change than my father. While she was no feminist in the strict sense, she certainly didn’t view herself as my father’s chattel. Not for her the anonymous title of Mrs W. K. Ashcroft. If not seeking to continue to use her maiden name, she insisted that her own initials P. M. should precede her married name; unexceptional today, but I remember listening to the strident complaints of my paternal grandmother, Alice Ashcroft, as she berated my father for allowing my mother to style herself so in some vox pop in which my mother featured in the local paper. Worse, the august columns of the Billingham Express featured a photograph of my windswept and clearly wayward mother with the caption Mrs P. M. Ashcroft in large type underneath. But that wasn’t the end of my mother’s revolutionary tendencies. She believed that women should be able to support themselves, and not rely on their husband’s income. This wasn’t simply an abstract point of principle, I believe, but a prudent necessity in case my father’s drinking became too much for her. So, along with the increasing numbers of women of her generation she went back to work after having children. But not until I could effectively fend for myself, since the option of hiring a childminder was not financially feasible.


She bonded strongly with me and was fearful for me. Her fearfulness was clearly engendered by the loss of my brother, whom I never saw. He was born on 14 October in 1944, but died of a defective heart valve two days later on October 16th. His birth certificate contains no first or Christian name and is simply shown in the public records as ‘Boy’ Ashcroft. I first found out that he had not been officially named while researching this book and I must say that it saddened me greatly. My mother spoke little of this traumatic event in her life. For many years, I believed that they had intended to call him Ronnie but the news about the birth certificate was disquieting. However, when leafing through some personal papers left by mother after her death in 1997, I found copies of the Evening Gazette – the main evening paper on Teesside - for October 17th and 19th. In the former his birth is announced, even though he had been dead one day by then. The latter contains the death notice but also gives his name as Ronald. I am happy to use this book to correct the bald anonymity of my brother’s birth certificate.


One can only guess at the impact of Ronnie’s infant death on my mother and her relationships both with my father and with me. I became close to my mother. But there was always an implicit barrier in her behaviour towards me, which helped fuel my own half conscious insecurities as to whether I was truly loved by her. While it is dangerous to play the amateur psychoanalyst, I eventually came to the conclusion that the loss of her first child made her fearful that the same might happen to me. But, the desire to avoid again the terrible pain that she experienced following the loss of Ronnie must have led her to ring fence her emotions towards me so at times she appeared to be holding something back.


At primary school I was a bright but self-conscious boy. Not surprisingly, I had a strong desire to be liked by my fellow pupils. This manifested itself in a conformist tendency, which sat uneasily with that other side of my personality, which hoped that I was smarter, surer, swifter than anyone else, and wanted others to know it. The conformist side invariably dominated. So, one morning in 1954 I turned up at Wolviston village school led by my mother, who in turn was being dragged by ‘Sooty’ the mongrel puppy dog I’d been given the previous Christmas. No other boys being visible, I said goodbye to dog and mother, passing over to her my rubber tomahawk, knife and headdress having concluded that ‘Cowboys and Indians’ was not on the day’s play agenda. Dog and mother had just disappeared around the corner, when a series of ever louder whooping noises could be heard resulting in a gaggle of Red Indian braves storming into view from the rear of the school. The fear that I was about to be exposed and then massacred as the day’s only cowboy had a galvanising effect. I turned on my heel and ran like mad eventually catching up with mam and dog, rubber knife in its mouth, to demand the return of my Red Indian gear, and through tearful eyes indignantly berate her for allowing me to make such a dreadful public mistake. There’s little wonder that my mother was keen to get back to work.


The Victorian built school of about 70 pupils, mainly the sons and daughters of local farmers, farm workers and shopkeepers, was divided into two, lower and upper. The lower school of 4 to 7 year-olds contained about 20 pupils in one class taught by a Miss Bateman. Miss Bateman was the classic spinster teacher. To my young eyes she was of indeterminate age, that is, she was either very old or extremely old. In reality she probably would have been about forty. She ruled us literally with a rod. The rod was a large wooden blackboard ruler one yard in length. The ruler helped draw straight chalk lines on the blackboard, served as a pointer to indicate whose turn it was to read the next passage, or recite the eight times table, but above all it was in our eyes her weapon of mass destruction. If you paid insufficient attention, talked in class or, heaven forbid, started a fight with your neighbour, you would be hauled out to the front of the class. Then with your classmates cowering in anticipation one to six strikes of the ruler were applied to your backside. As far as I remember only the boys were ‘given the ruler’ even though not all the girls were angels. The thought of girls having to bare their knickers to the on-looking class was probably too much for Miss Bateman’s sensitivities, so a stern look was her main weapon of control over the female gender. Knickers or not, I too managed to escape the dreaded ruler, an outcome no doubt of a complex mix of my cowardice, a desire to please and some success at convincing Miss Bateman of my worth. However, my infant efforts to get her to appreciate me must only have been partially successful. One day on a class nature walk we visited the back garden of her house a few hundred yards from the school situated in front of Wolviston duck pond. As we sat on the grass making daisy chains I realised that I was sitting on, and had crushed, a bird’s egg. I immediately burst into tears at the thought of the dreadful thing I’d done. Miss Bateman gave me a withering look, said that it wasn’t much to be crying about and gave me the impression that she felt I was an insipid wimp. And she was probably correct!


Whatever Miss Bateman’s idiosyncrasies, I moved to the upper school when I was seven with good reading and arithmetic ability, which was a tribute to her rigorous approach to teaching. The upper school was eventually split into intermediate and higher groups, with the new Mrs Pottage coming in to take the former. But in those early days around 50 of us sat, arranged roughly by age, in five columns of desks facing the Headmaster, Mr George Fleming. Mr Fleming was probably in his late forties and looked quite distinguished with thinning, sandy hair slicked back over his head behind a forehead that had clearly grown some compared to his younger self. Being faced with 50 kids of varying ages must have posed several pedagogical problems for my new teacher. First, there were at least 4 or 5 age groups that each had different teaching needs. The ten year olds were preparing for their Eleven Plus exams, while at the other extreme seven year olds such as myself had to be taught to do real or joined-up writing, develop their vocabulary and be introduced to the mysteries of sums. Secondly, there was the sheer amount of energy required to control 50 kids and keep them focused on the work in hand. Fleming, navigated through most of his problems by affability and good humour, but if he thought his good nature was being abused he soon lost his temper. The loss of temper was frequently followed by the introduction of his own weapon of mass destruction: a leather tawse.


I must have received ‘the strap’ as we called it about three times during the 4 to 5 years that I was in Fleming’s charge. By the standards of my male classmates this was pretty reasonable. But the trauma I went through on each occasion was not trivial. Typically, having being caught trading blows with my neighbour, I would be marched to the front and told to wait while he searched for the weapon in his desk. Once the strap was retrieved, he would instruct me to stand still and put the palm of one hand straight out in front of me. I would wait with trepidation hand outstretched. Then, with the sun invariably blazing through gothic windows over Fleming’s shoulder, hand and strap would rise, followed by a whoosh of leather and an eye watering crack as the tawse connected with my hand. This would be repeated on alternate hands up to six times. One of these occasions took on even greater import when I found out that Mr Fleming and his wife had been invited to our house for dinner just a couple of days after I’d been given the strap. Dinner parties were not something that I associate with my parents and I do not remember them having anyone else for dinner during the whole of my childhood. This may, though, be a reflection of a faulty memory on my part but, even so, such events were not frequent. However, it is likely that the dinner in question was an outcome of my father’s political activities. At the time he was a local councillor and was Chairman of the school’s Board of Governors, and dining the headmaster was probably a politic thing to do. In any event, my father’s position as Chairman of the Governor’s had not saved me from the recent strapping and so my greatest fear was that Mr Fleming would tell my dad that I’d been naughty enough to have been given the strap. What I thought my father would do to me if he found out I don’t know. My dad was at that stage not drinking too much but even when he started to drink more I don’t remember him hitting or beating me. Nevertheless, I lay awake in my bed upstairs, trembling in fear as the low buzz of their conversation and the clink of cutlery on plates drifted up to my room. But nothing appears to have been said. No recriminations were made. And, thereafter, my admiration and respect for Mr Fleming rose dramatically for exercising such forbearance. The cynic in me later reasoned that either the event was so insignificant to him that he didn’t remember it, or, even more cynically, to raise the issue with my father, the Chairman of his Board of Governors, would be to reveal his own failing in controlling the class. I would like to think it was neither of these and that he did me a favour.


Wolviston School was not all fear and whooshing tawse. Indeed, Mr Fleming’s philosophy of education evidently emphasised the value of leisure pursuits. While school activities involved much of the usual academic work there was also quite a lot of play. This ranged from sports days, through helping in the school garden, to country dancing, and the staging of theatrical events – comedy and musical sketches - for parents and visitors.


Country dancing was fun because even in those pre-pubescent years it was exciting - to me at least – to get the chance to be close to, and put your arms around, a member of the opposite sex. It was during these close encounters that I fell in love for the first time with a girl called Jetta Yuill, who was the eldest child of a professional couple who lived in the village. My yearning for Jetta went unspoken and unrequited for the three subsequent years that I remained at the school. Being shy and verbally inarticulate, the closest I got to declaring my intentions was in sneaking a kiss onto her cheek while in the main corridor of the school. How I managed to achieve this, or how I got away with it without response, favourable or unfavourable, still exercises me to this day. I would work hard at getting Jetta to be my partner for the ‘Dashing White Sergeant’ or ‘Strip the Willow’. And as the recorded music played on the school Dansette – no school piano – I would luxuriate in the exquisite aroma of Jetta’s unperfumed body and thrill to the rustle of her dress. How hard it was to concentrate my mind on ‘problems’ or a ‘spelling’ test in the teaching period immediately after the country dancing session!


Our dancing activities were not simply confined to the school. On summer days, we would troop out on to the village green, which lay in a semi-circle surrounded by bungalows and small houses before the school. In the centre of the green a maypole would be erected, with red, white and blue ribbons streaming from it. Miss Bateman, or Mrs Pottage, I can’t remember which, but certainly not Mr Fleming, would then take us through the various steps that would result in different intricate patterns appearing down the pole according to the particular steps of the dance. Maypole dancing is not something that I remember featuring much in Stockton or anywhere else on Teesside for that matter, so its introduction at our village school says something for the imagination and initiative of the teaching staff. Of course, the actual outcomes of the dances only occasionally conformed to the idyllic setting described above. Often I would forget whether I should go right or left of the approaching dancer, or straining to catch sight of Jetta’s flashing heels I would fail to take my position in the inner ring. The result of my terpsichorean stumbles would invariably be the growth of a large knotty tumour on the side of the pole completely at odds with the expected pattern. Soon frenetic shouting would emerge from Miss Bateman or Mrs Pottage and we would have to re-wind until the offending missteps and perpetrator were discovered. This would inevitably result in exhortations to concentrate on what I should be doing and not to daydream. And perhaps if I watched Jetta closely I might get the steps right. If you say so, Miss Bateman!


My memories of Wolviston primary School are suffused with a warm glow. This is no doubt because such recollections are filtered through the prism of age. As I look back across 60 years discrete images float into my mind. Images of a day when Mr Fleming marches us outside to stand in the small playground at the front of the school and urges us to look skywards. After a short while we hear the sound of an aeroplane the drumming of its propellers getting louder and louder. Then we see it. A twin-engine monoplane, a shiny dark green colour with an RAF roundel on its side and on top of the fuselage near the front of the ‘plane two figures can be seen. The ‘plane comes lower and closer until the figure at the front starts to wave madly at us. Mr Fleming, thin sandy hair lifting gently from his head, starts to wave back in large semi-circular arcs. And we all join in. Waving and shouting at the top of our voices to Gerald the headmaster’s son, who is flying the ‘plane as part of his RAF pilot training on their way back to the RAF station at Thornaby. Heads appear out of windows around the village green. The local postman gets off his bike, shades his eyes and looks up. We continue to cheer, until after completing a circuit low over the school, and no doubt breaking every rule in the book, the plane steers south for Thornaby, and disappears over our heads with the drumming of its propellers fading gradually away. Chattering excitedly we all troop back into the school.


A military context for my childhood memories surfaces again in November 1956. It is 8am, Monday November 5th. I am nine years old. My mother marches in to my room – she never did knock – and rubbing the sleep from my eyes I exclaim “Goody, it’s bonfire night ….” She rewards my enthusiasm with a stern look and then says “You’d better make the most of it, because it could be the last for some time.” Puzzled, I follow her down stairs. There on the kitchen table is a copy of the Daily Sketch I read bits about Budapest radio asking the world for help and then silence. Our own radio is droning away in the background, a pan of porridge bubbles on top of the gas oven. I am asking mam what it all means when she urges me to be quiet. The programme is being interrupted to give further information on earlier reports that British and French paratroopers had landed at Port Said in Egypt in an attempt to gain control of the Suez Canal. I learn later that this was in response to President Nasser’s recent unilateral nationalisation of the Canal. Mam packs me off to school. Curiously I am excited, a sensation to be repeated in the future when I am confronted by major news events. But as I walked to school that day I had a vague sense that something in my world had changed. A sense that there were powerful, even malign forces beyond the boundaries of mam, dad and school that could change my life forever. I was beginning to lose my childhood innocence.


The influence of external forces was also soon to be felt at my school. Mr Fleming took pride in the school’s theatrical productions, which were invariably a mixture of short sketches with some music and singing rather than full-length plays. We all loved to participate in these activities. But one day I returned with others to the classroom to find jotters and sundry bits and pieces piled on top of my desk. Mr Fleming sat scowling at his desk and upon noticing me he launched into a tirade about my failure to keep my desk tidy – a habit that is still evident today as I raise my eyes above the computer and gaze at the surrounding clutter of papers and books10. Gradually, we understood that school inspectors had visited the school, presumably unexpectedly, and amongst other things he had wanted to show them some example of my work, which he’d been unable to find. I realise now, and probably did so then, that I was one of the school’s better pupils. My untidiness had let him down. But what became clear was that the inspectors thought that the balance between ‘work’ and ‘play’ in the school was weighted too much towards ‘play’. Things were going to change. And, with sad eyes Mr Fleming warned us that the school’s theatrical activities would have to cease.


While I didn’t think so at the time, this probably would have been viewed by Sellar & Yeatman11 as a ‘good thing’ in my personal history. It was now 1957. Within a year I would be sitting Part 1 of the Eleven Plus examination. Part 1 had to be negotiated before Part II and only if that were passed would a place at grammar school be available. During the year before the first exam, we worked hard at past papers and with Mr Fleming’s help I tried to remedy my problem with ‘problems’. You know the type:


“Tim runs a mile at a constant speed of 5 yards per second. John runs the first half mile at 1 yard per second slower than Tim, and the second half mile at 1 yard per second faster than John. Who will win, and by how many seconds?”12


While I was pretty good at mental arithmetic and the speedy manipulation of numbers, when it came to boys running around tracks or men digging ditches, I would frequently run around in circles or dig a ditch for myself. Now, if it had been Jetta dancing around the maypole …… ! Mr Fleming said that I ‘made mountains out of molehills’. As it happens, this was a very perceptive comment on at least one aspect of my personality. Yet it wasn’t simply that I saw difficulties where none existed. Rather, concern at my slow progress in solving a problem, produced in me such terror and fear of failure that I almost entered a catatonic state. We spent time trying to scale down the mountains and my performance improved. But whether this would be sufficient to keep my brain from seizing up during the actual exam only time would tell.


The first part of the ‘Scholarship’, as my parent’s called it, was scheduled for a day in February 1958. That month is etched into my memory not just because of the Eleven Plus exam. On February 6th seven members of Matt Busby’s first great Manchester United football team were killed as their ‘plane was attempting to take off in slushy conditions from Munich airport after touching down to refuel following a flight from Belgrade where they were playing a European fixture13. The horror of the deaths14 had a big effect on me, producing an echo almost exactly one year later when Buddy Holly, another childhood hero, died also in a snow affected air crash. My personal sorrow at the massacre of the “Busby babes” was not just because I was an impressionable ten-year old, but also probably because I had had the privilege of seeing the team play just over a year before the crash. My father had taken me the forty miles by bus and train to see that great team play Newcastle United15 at St James’ Park in September 1956. The match was billed as “Busby’s Babes versus Mitten’s Kittens” – Charlie Mitten was Newcastle’s Manager at the time. The match ended in 1-1 draw, with the equalising goal for Newcastle scored by the legendary Jackie Milburn, then 32 years of age at the end of his career, and as unlikely a “kitten” as there could be.


A few days after the crash came the exam. The morning of the dreaded day was dark, cold and wet as eight of us trooped into the main classroom of the school. (Where all the other pupils were I have no idea, although I assume they must have been given the morning or day off.) Mr Fleming had arranged for extra heating to be available in the room. So, in that dark, eerily lit but warm room the exam began. I remember that it was a Maths exam and assume that there was an English exam later in the morning. But I have no memory of the second exam, probably because it was the fear of maths and ‘problems’ that dominated my thoughts. In the evening, I made the mistake of going over the maths exam paper with my parents, which ended in floods of tears and my mother hugging me as I became convinced that I had not passed the exam. I would be consigned to Billingham Secondary Modern School, a failure at eleven. This was not idle fancy. The fear was real, although no doubt conditioned by my parents’ views and expectations.


Yet, I passed the exam. In fact four of us passed: the gorgeous Jetta, her friend Barbara Benson, Graham Scott and myself. Graham a quiet, secretive character was the nearest to a friend I had at the school. His elder brother Neil who had moved on to secondary school two years earlier had overshadowed him. But since his brother’s departure Graham had begun to display more of an identity of his own. The Scott’s lived almost opposite the school on the corner of the village green. Neil described his mother to us as ‘an author’, although it was never clear to me whether she wrote novels, cookery books, or car manuals. Anyway, whether in the pursuit of her authorial commitments or some other employment, she was out of the house most of the time. And there was no sign at all of a Mr Scott, whose whereabouts constituted a mystery. I think we were meant to believe that he was ‘working away’. But that didn’t seem exactly right. Despite their middle-class aura the family were not well off. Neil and Graham had appeared regularly at school, winter and summer, dressed identically in Nordic looking woollen cardigans that fastened up to the throat with metal buttons and alternated grey and white horizontal stripes. Suffice to say that even in the farmyards of Wolviston such garments were not viewed as the epitome of cool. With parents absent Neil, Graham and I, and then after Neil’s departure just Graham and myself, were able to spend our dinner break at their house. I cannot resist the temptation to say that we spent the break ‘fiddling with our flies’. However, this is not an admission of pubescent awakening and nascent homosexual attraction. The reality was more mundane. Following Neil’s example, we spent our time making flies for fishing. Pins were bent. Fine cord was wrapped around metal, and different colours used to distinguish body from wings. Why we did this I have no idea. Any fishing that I had done previously was with a net in rock pools, although when I was in my early teens I graduated to hook, line and sinker but never to a fishing rod and certainly not to fly-fishing. So, all of this remains a mystery to me. Perhaps we did it because we could.


The second half of the ‘scholarship’ exam was held at Grangefield Grammar School in Stockton on March 13. Children were bussed to the school from all over the Stockton and Billingham area. Everything about Grangefield seemed to be on a different scale from our school: playgrounds, playing fields, classrooms and buildings. Then there was the gym, tennis court and swimming pool that we never dreamed could be part of a school. But above all was the sheer number of children: running in and out of the cloakrooms, charging around the playgrounds, and squeezing past one another along linoleum corridors and stairs. Order was imposed on the mayhem by assigning us to classrooms according to the first letter of our surnames. I therefore found myself in a roomful of ‘A’s’. Soon the incessant chatter of excited ten and eleven year olds was stilled as the ordeal began. I drifted off into my solipsistic world and as the morning passed by I began to feel that that I was doing quite well. The anxieties of the first exam seemed a distant memory. Even ‘problems’ seemed to be less life threatening than the previous month’s trial. By this time we were on to the mental arithmetic paper and I breezed easily to the end of the paper with ten to fifteen minutes to spare. So, being the dutiful student, I returned to the beginning to check my answers. After about five minutes checking for some reason I moved to the final page of the question paper. There at the bottom of the page I noticed for the first time the words ‘PLEASE TURN OVER’! I was sure that hadn’t been there before. Gingerly I raised the question paper then flipped it over. Rows and rows of questions swam into view. Twenty to be exact. Twenty questions and less than ten minutes to complete them. My heart sank. Of course, I didn’t finish them managing only about five. Was I to be denied a place at Grammar School because I’d failed to read three simple words?


Two months later on a bright spring morning an envelope lies on the mat at the front door. Mam whispers quietly in my ear: ‘Go on, open it.’ The brown envelope is resistant to my fumblings. Mam produces a knife. A white sheet of paper is withdrawn. And there, in what today would be called Courier font, I read the words: ‘You have been awarded a place at Stockton Grammar School.’ Later that day I learn that only Jetta and myself had passed. Barbara and Graham were to go to Billingham Secondary Modern. Jetta would attend Grangefield Grammar, scene of our examination ordeal. I find out in September that in opting, in the event of a pass, for Stockton Grammar, I would be one of 35 boys entering that year to the direct grant Church of England Grammar School for boys. And, as a reward from my parents for becoming the first member of our family to attain Grammar School status, I am presented with an acoustic guitar.


Notes


    9 Alan Bennett’s revelation that in Leeds one’s mother was always known as ‘mam’ rather than the ‘mum’ of midland and southern England, also applied elsewhere in the north of England and especially on Teesside. Although I tended to use ‘mum’ more and ‘mam’ less as I grew older.


  10 Of course in self-justification mode I have been known to argue that a tidy mind - and desk - isn’t necessarily a creative mind. And certainly academic success does not require a tidy desk. A quite distinguished economics professor colleague of mine had a legendary untidy desk and room. It was contended, perhaps apocryphally, that when the year drew to a close he covered the assorted scatter with newspaper and wrote “198x”. He also gained a fame of sorts outside his particular specialism as a result of the University Safety Officer photographing his room and then circulating to the whole University and no doubt beyond as an example of a significant fire risk and general safety hazard, previous occurrences of which no doubt had led to the decline and fall of Rome, the British Empire and the source of the road towards BREXIT today!


  11 W. C. Sellar and R. J. Yeatman 1066 and All That, Methuen, 1930.


  12 Tim wins by fourteen and two third seconds. I think!


  13 Twenty-three of the 43 people on the aircraft died in the crash.


  14 Seven players – Roger Byrne, Mark Jones, Eddie Colman, Tommy Taylor, Liam Whelan, David Pegg and Geoff Bent – died immediately, with the young England centre-half Duncan Edwards finally giving up his struggle for life 15 days later.


  15 Following my father, I have, for my sins, been a life-long supporter of Newcastle United, a preoccupation that caused me much grief during my youth on Teesside where every other person appeared to be a Middlesbrough supporter. Little was I to know as I watched that match that, to date, May 2018, (hope still lives on!) Newcastle would never again win a major domestic trophy after the club’s victory in the FA Cup Final in 1955, 16 months before the match discussed here!
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